Filed 07-29-2022

FILED 07-29-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS – DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2022AP000361-CR

In the Matter of Sanctions in: STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SUZANNE LEE SHEGONEE,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Order for Sanctions, the Honorable Richard Radcliffe, Presiding, Entered in the Monroe County Circuit Court

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATIE R. YORK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1066231

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-7125 yorkk@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

The court entered an order requiring the attorneys to finalize negotiations 15 days prior to trial. For several reasons explained by the prosecutor, the attorneys continued to negotiate after the deadline and resolved the case 3 days prior to trial, and then promptly notified the court. The court acknowledged the attorneys' role in the late settlement, but then, sanctioned only Ms. Shegonee, an indigent defendant, \$500 for accepting the late offer. Did the court err in imposing the \$500 sanction?

The circuit court entered the \$500 sanction.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Ms. Shegonee would welcome oral argument if the court felt it would be beneficial but is not requesting it. This is a fact-specific case, requiring application of established legal principles to the facts of the case, therefore publication is not requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal stems from sanctions imposed upon Suzanne Shegonee for accepting a new offer presented by the state after the court's final deadline for resolution of the case. The order for sanctions constitutes a final order from a special proceeding pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 808.03(1). *State v. Heyer*, 174 Wis. 2d 164, 168, 496. N.W.2d (Ct. App. 1993). On December 9, 2021, Ms. Shegonee entered pleas and was sentenced in Monroe County case 19-CF-157. After imposition of sentence, the court separately addressed sanctions for the late settlement agreement. (101:27-29; App. 15-17). The court ordered Ms. Shegonee to pay a \$500 sanction for accepting the state's new offer, which was presented to her shortly before her attorney notified the court of the resolution. (101:27-29; App. 15-17). The court ordered that the \$500 cash bail Ms. Shegonee previously posted be applied to the sanction rather than the \$929 of costs and surcharges associated with her convictions. (101:29; App. 17; 96).

On March 9, 2022, Ms. Shegonee filed a notice of appeal. (124). On the same day, Ms. Shegonee filed in this court, a motion to hold the case in abeyance pending Ms. Shegonee's Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30 proceedings or alternative resolution. The motion laid out the unique procedural posture, here, where Ms. Shegonee had both a Rule 809.30 direct appeal and civil appeal stemming from the same hearing.

In the motion, Ms. Shegonee asked for one of three orders: (1) hold this case in abeyance pending Rule 809.30 postconviction proceedings in her underlying criminal case, (2) clarify that this appeal from the sanctions order is separate and distinct from the Rule 809.30 proceedings in her underlying criminal case, and thus, this appeal will not preclude any future claims raised in her Rule 809.30 direct appeal, or (3) dismiss this appeal and permit Ms. Shegonee to raise this issue as a part of her Rule 809.30 direct appeal. In an order issued March 14, 2022, this court chose the first option and this appeal pending Ms. Shegonee's stayed

Rule 809.30 proceedings. On June 20, 2022, Ms. Shegonee filed a motion to lift the stay, as she was not continuing with her Rule 809.30 direct appeal, and asked for a briefing deadline of July 29, 2022, which this court granted.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Ms. Shegonee, a 58-year-old woman, was sitting at Dimensions Bar around midnight when two officers approached her and told her she had a warrant. (86:6). The warrant was filed with a contempt action for failure to provide a DNA sample. (106:4). The officer told Ms. Shegonee she was under arrest. According to the officer, Ms. Shegonee picked up her beer and "attempted to take one last drink before going to jail." (1:2). A second officer grabbed the bottle as she brought it to her mouth. Ms. Shegonee then "brought her left arm up and swung backwards" at the officer who grabbed the bottle. (1:2; 86:6). She did not hit the officer. (86:7). He moved. (86:7).

When Ms. Shegonee stood up from the barstool, the officers grabbed her arms and described her as "slightly resistive" putting her arms behind her back. (1:2; 86:10). She walked herself to the pool table, was "stabilized on the pool table," and secured in handcuffs. (1:2). At the preliminary hearing, the officer testified Ms. Shegonee "made the swinging motion and right after that, [the officers] grabbed each of her arms, that was the extent of it." (86:12).

For this single encounter Ms. Shegonee was charged with three offenses, one felony and two misdemeanors: (1) attempted battery to a law enforcement officer, an attempted Class H felony, (2) resisting an officer, a Class A misdemeanor and(3) disorderly conduct, a Class B misdemeanor. (1:1).In total, she faced a maximum penalty of 4 years.

Ms. Shegonee is indigent. She qualifies financially for State Public Defender representation but was still able to post a total of \$500 cash bond to be released from custody. (5; 12; 23).

The preliminary hearing in this case was held on September 24, 2019, a few months before the COVID-19 pandemic. In the early stages of the pandemic, a few scheduling conferences were held virtually. (115; 116; 117; 118). By March 22, 2021, the case had not yet resolved. At that point, the state's offer included entering guilty pleas to four offenses - one felony and three misdemeanors. The state also added a second count of disorderly conduct. The plea offer included:

- **Plead to:** (1) attempted battery of a law enforcement officer, (2) resisting, (3) disorderly conduct, and (4) an added (second) count of disorderly conduct.
- On the felony: 30-month diversion agreement that must be completed prior to dismissal of that count. The conditions were:
 - AODA and follow-up,
 - a letter of apology to the officers,
 - 80 hours of community service + monthly reports and fees,
 - comply with conditions of probation on the misdemeanors.
- On the 3 misdemeanors: impose but stay 180 days jail without Huber privileges with two

years of probation. The conditions of supervision would be the same as the diversion agreement and "other assessments, conditions and no contacts per the agent and the costs of the action."

(120:11-12).

After the final pretrial conference on March 22, 2021, the court filed an order regarding resolution after the final pretrial. The order stated the defense had until April 1, 2021, to reach a negotiated agreement. (70). The trial was scheduled for April 15, 2021. (120:12). The order stated failure by either attorney to follow the order could result in sanctions. (70).

On April 1, 2021, defense counsel filed a letter indicating Ms. Shegonee accepted a misdemeanor offer in the case, however, on April 9, 2021, defense counsel filed another letter indicating Ms. Shegonee wanted to continue with a jury trial. (71; 75). The court then scheduled a final pretrial hearing for November 9, 2021 and a jury trial was scheduled for December 9, 2021. (77).

At the final pretrial, the state's last offer included pleas to four misdemeanors, with a significant jail sentence and probation. The offer included:

Plead to: (1) attempted misdemeanor battery,
(2) resisting, (3) disorderly conduct, and (4) an added (second) count of disorderly conduct.

- On the two disorderly conduct counts: 180 days jail (90 days consecutive on each count).
- On the attempted battery and resisting counts: impose but stay 180 days jail (90 on each count consecutive without Huber privileges), 2 years of probation with the following conditions:
 - AODA and follow-up,
 - Letter of apology,
 - o 80 hours community service,
 - Other conditions per agent,
 - Costs.

(121:5-6). With this offer, for a single incident, Ms. Shegonee would have 4 convictions, 6 months in jail and another 6 months without Huber privileges hanging over her head while on probation for 2 years. She rejected this offer. At this point, there had been a lot of back and forth about potential resolutions and some discussion of a felony diversion as well. (121:7).

The court told Ms. Shegonee "this is the offer that the State is willing to – to extend to you to resolve this. There is a deadline for resolution which is going to be the day before Thanksgiving. Any resolution after that date could result in sanctions." (121:5). After the final pretrial conference, the court issued an order stating "[t]he district attorney and defense have until November 24, 2021 to reach a negotiate [sic] plea agreement and notify the court of the same. Both the district attorney and defense shall make every possible attempt to resolve this matter by the date given with the understanding that plea agreements beyond this date will not be accepted" absent extraordinary circumstances. (80; App. 22).

The order also stated "Failure **by either attorney** to follow this order may result in motions being denied or sanctions being imposed pursuant to Sec. 802.10(7), 805.03, or 814.51, Stats. and any other applicable statute or case law." (80; App. 22; emphasis added).

After the resolution deadline and after significant negotiations between the attorneys, the state made a new offer that narrowed the differences between the parties. (102:4; App. 6). The new offer was "much closer to what would be acceptable" with Ms. Shegonee. (102:4; App. 6). As a result, 3 days before trial, on Monday, December 6, 2021, defense counsel filed a letter indicating Ms. Shegonee wanted to accept the new offer made by the state. (83; App. 23).

The court questioned the state and defense counsel about the changed offer at a hearing on December 7, 2021. The state agreed the offer had changed and explained why negotiations continued beyond the court's deadline. (102:5). The prosecutor explained he had a five- or six-day homicide trial that began the day after the final pretrial conference, which consumed the entirety of his time and then there was Thanksgiving. (102:5; App. 7). He also noted several trials were stacked that day so he was trying to get through negotiations on all of them. (102:6; App. 8). Then, he was out of the office with limited cell phone and internet service. (102:7; App. 9). Ultimately, the changes the prosecutor made to the offer recognized that Ms. Shegonee had been out of trouble while the case was pending for two years. (102:7; App. 9). While Ms. Shegonee was still pleading to all counts, the accepted offer decreased the length of the diversion agreement on the felony from 3 years to 6 months, cut the probation time in half, and included no jail time. The specifics were:

- **Plead to:** (1) attempted battery of a law enforcement officer, (2) resisting, (3) disorderly conduct, and (4) an added (second) count of disorderly conduct.
- On the felony: 6-month diversion agreement that must be completed prior to dismissal of that count. The conditions were:
 - o letter of apology,
 - o monthly reports and fees,
 - comply with all conditions of probation. (87:3).
- On the 3 misdemeanors: 12 months of probation, with the following conditions:
 - AODA and all follow up,
 - o letter of apology,
 - any other assessments conditions or no contacts per agent, costs.

The court told Ms. Shegonee that the clerk "did a bunch of work to make sure that your jury was present here on Thursday when you were supposed to go to trial." (102:11; App. 13). The court said if he accepts her plea, he could impose some costs on her for the extra work that wouldn't have been necessary if the court's orders were followed. (102:11-12; App. 13-14).

On December 9, 2021, the court accepted the plea agreement. It withheld sentence on the felony count and approved a 6-month diversion agreement. (101:24). On the misdemeanor counts, the court withheld sentence and placed Ms. Shegonee on probation for 12-months. (101:24-25; 92). The court did not order any jail time.

After the court imposed sentence and explained Ms. Shegonee's appeal rights, it stated "Okay. Then I am going to address the issue of sanctions." (101:27; App. 15). The court started by addressing the state's role in the late plea agreement. The court concluded caseload and vacation not were extraordinary circumstances preventing an attorney "from adequately addressing resolution of the case by the deadline." (101:28; App. 16). The court's position is that prosecutors should resolve the case by the deadline or be able to articulate some change in the evidence that would justify changing an offer. (101:28; App. 16).

As for defense counsel's role, the court stated "there is no question that defense attorneys bear the predominant burden for making sure that cases resolve and that their clients understand the deadline and the potential for them being sanctioned, **and I'm unclear whether Ms. Shegonee had full understanding of this deadline or not**." (101:28; App. 16; emphasis added). The court then stated "the fact that the attorneys continued to negotiate after the deadline I think indicates a lack of respect for the court order, but in the end it's Ms. Shegonee that made the decision to accept a plea." (101:28-29; App. 16-17).

The court concluded the plea offer was "substantially largely similar" to what was offered to her prior to the final pretrial and she knew accepting the plea could result in a sanction. (101:29; App. 17). The court concluded it would "sanction her for changing her mind." (101:29; App. 17), The court concluded a lot of time and energy went into preparing for a jury trial during the pandemic from the court staff and the jurors that were summoned. (101:29; App. 17). The court then concluded it would impose a \$500 sanction against Ms. Shegonee. The court noted Ms. Shegonee posted a \$500 cash bond and it would be forfeited and applied to the sanction, instead of being applied to her court costs, which totaled \$929. (96; 101:29; App. 17). It will "pay the County back for all the time that it spent notifying jurors not only of the trial, but also of the cancellation of the trial, as well as the efforts of court staff in preparing for the trial, and also for canceling the trial based on the late resolution." (101:29-30; App. 17-18).

ARGUMENT

The court erred when it imposed a \$500 sanction on Ms. Shegonee for accepting a new offer presented by the state 3 days prior to trial.

A. Introduction.

The court issued an order stating it would not accept a negotiated resolution absent extraordinary circumstances after November 24, 2021, 15 days before the trial date. The order also stated failure by either attorney to abide by the order could result in sanctions. The attorneys continued to negotiate after the set date. The prosecutor explained why: he had a homicide trial right after the pretrial conference, he negotiating multiple stacked cases. then was Thanksgiving, and he had a vacation without reliable cell phone or internet service. All of which created obstacles to completing negotiations. Still, the parties were able to resolve the matter 3 days before the trial was to commence and promptly notified the court of the resolution. The new agreement was significantly different than prior offers. The diversion agreement was 2 years shorter, probation was half as long (1 year), and there was no jail time or community service recommended.

Even though the court acknowledged the attorneys' role in the late resolution - framing it as a "lack of respect" for negotiating beyond the deadline and the order for resolution recognized it was a "failure by either attorney" that could prompt sanctions, the court ultimately faulted Ms. Shegonee, alone, for accepting the new offer. The court erred because sanctions for late settlement agreements are governed by Wis. Stat. § 814.51, which provides the court with discretionary authority to assess costs against a party when a case is settled within 2 business days prior to trial. That did not occur here. And, the court erroneously exercised its discretion in sanctioning Ms. Shegonee, because she was treated disparately, she had no control over when negotiations occurred, the court's conclusion that the new agreement was "substantially largely similar" was clearly erroneous, and the scheduling order at issue governed the attorneys' conduct, not Ms. Shegonee's conduct.

B. The court erroneously exercised its discretion when sanctioning Ms. Shegonee for accepting a new offer.

The court's order regarding resolution after the final pretrial stated failure **by either attorney** to follow the order may result in sanctions imposed pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§ 802.10(7), 805.03, or 814.51, "and any other applicable statute or case law." (80; App. 22). When sanctioning Ms. Shegonee, the court did not specify what authority it relied upon. The three statutory references listed in the court's order will be addressed below, none of which permits the \$500 sanction the court imposed upon Ms. Shegonee for accepting a new plea offer 3 days before trial. But, first, this brief will address the court's overarching erroneous exercise of discretion.

Regardless of what authority the court relies on, it must always appropriately exercise its discretion, which it did not do here. The court's decision to sanction a party is a discretionary decision. *Flottmeyer v. Circuit Court for Monroe County*, 2007 WI App 36, ¶ 16, 300 Wis. 2d 447, 730 N.W.2d 421. "A circuit court properly exercises its discretion when it examines the relevant facts, applies a proper standard of law, and, using a demonstrated rational process, reaches a conclusion that a reasonable court could reach." *Id.* at ¶ 17. 1. The court erroneously exercised its discretion because negotiating is beyond Ms. Shegonee's control and she was treated disparately.

It is an erroneous exercise of discretion to sanction Ms. Shegonee for conduct out of her control. In O'Neil v. Monroe County Circuit Court, both the state and the defense were ordered to file a witness list "within a reasonable time prior to jury trial." 2003 WI App, ¶ 2, 266 Wis. 2d 155, 667 N.W.3d 774. The trial was scheduled for January 3, 2002, and the state filed its list on December 27, 2001. Id. The general practice in Monroe County was for the defense to wait until receiving the state's list before responding with its own list. Id. at \P 4. Defense counsel was on vacation over the holidays when the state filed its list, and therefore, filed the list on the next working day, January 2, the day before trial. Id. A witness on the state's list prompted the defense to obtain an expert, whose name was included on their list. The state objected to the expert the day of trial. The court proposed a choice of either adjourning the trial or proceeding without the defense expert. Id. at \P 6. An adjournment request was then granted but the court also ordered the State Public Defender to pay the cost of impaneling the jury. Id.

The trial court concluded the state also failed to provide its witness list "within a reasonable time before trial." *Id.* at ¶ 18. Yet, the state was not sanctioned. *Id.* The court of appeals determined this disparate treatment to be a problem. *Id.* "A trial court's proper exercise of discretion ensures public and attorney confidence that all will receive equitable treatment." *Id.* at ¶ 21. The trial court erroneously exercised its discretion, in part, because the order did not reflect the prosecutor's role in the ensuing problem. *Id*.

Similarly, it is an erroneous exercise of discretion for a circuit court to enter a sanction of dismissal with prejudice, imputing the attorney's conduct on the client, where the client is blameless. Industrial Roofing Services, Inc. v. Marquardt, 2007 WI 19, ¶ 61, 299 Wis. 2d 81, 726 N.W.2d 898. One of the reasons for such a rule includes that "as a practical matter, a layperson ordinarily cannot be expected to supervise his or her attorney through every pretrial phase of litigation." Id. at ¶ 62. Although this case does not involve the same sanction as in Industrial, the concept still holds true. Ms. Shegonee was sanctioned for conduct of the attorneys. beyond the resolution negotiating deadline. Ms. Shegonee was not in a position to negotiate her case. That is the attorneys' role.

Ms. Shegonee accepted a new offer negotiated by the attorneys *after* the court's deadline for resolution. "Plea bargaining plays a central role in our criminal justice system." State v. Myrick, 2014 WI 55, ¶ 15, 354 Wis. 2d 828, 848 N.W.2d 743 (citing Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156.170(2012)).When properly administered plea bargaining can benefit, the state, defendants, and the public as a whole. Id. It is the attorneys, not the defendant, who negotiate plea agreements.

In addition, sanctions issued pursuant to s. 805.03, are limited to what is "just." For example, in *Anderson v. Circuit Court for Milwaukee County*, the court sanctioned a defense attorney \$50 for being

Page 20 of 30

8 minutes later for commencement of a jury trial. 219 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶ 4-8, 578 N.W.2d 633 (1998). The Wisconsin supreme court concluded s. 802.10(7) and s. 805.03 can apply in criminal cases, but concluded the court erroneously exercised its discretion in sanctioning defense counsel for being late to the jury trial without articulating its reasoning and explaining what problems were caused. *Id.* at ¶ 27.

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