FILED 10-04-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2022AP361-CR Trial Court Case No. 2019CF000157

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

Suzanne Lee Shegonee,

Defendant-Appellant

On Appeal From an Order for Sanctions, In the Monroe County Circuit Court, The Honorable Richard Radcliffe, Branch III, Presiding

PLAINTIFF - RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE

MONROE COUNTY

By: Kevin D. Croninger

District Attorney

State Bar No. 1065704 COURTHOUSE ROOM 201

112 SOUTH COURT STREET

SPARTA WI 54656 Phone: (608) 269-8780

Fax: (608) 269-8919

e-mail: monroe.call@da.wi.gov

Issues Presented

- 1. Did the Circuit Court have authority under Wis. Stat.§ 814.51 or any other authority to sanction the Defendant for her untimely resolution of her case, or for failure to abide by other orders of the Court?
- 2. If the Circuit court did have authority to sanction the Defendant, did the Circuit Court erroneously exercise its discretion in sanctioning the Defendant.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Plaintiff-Respondent anticipates the issue raised in this appeal can be fully addressed by the briefs. Accordingly, Plaintiff-Respondent is not requesting oral argument. Further, publication is not warranted under Wis. Stat. § 809.23.

Argument

While the specific procedure posture of this case did not allow the Court to sanction the Defendant-Appellant under Wis. Stat. §814.51, other statutory provisions and the Monroe County Circuit Court rules provided authority for the Court to do so. In sanctioning the Defendant-Appellant, the Court properly exercised its discretion because it properly applied the law and demonstrated a rational process in reaching its conclusion that a sanction was appropriate.

I. The Circuit Court was Not Allowed to Sanction the Defendant Under Wis. Stat. §814.51 Because the Jury Trial Demand Was Withdrawn 2 Business Days Prior to the Start of the Trial

The State largely agrees with the portion of the Defendant-Appellant's Brief which argues that the Circuit Court lacked the authority to sanction the Defendant under Wis. Stat. §814.51. The State so agrees because the language of Wis. Stat. §814.51 is unambiguous:

The court shall have discretionary authority in any civil or criminal action or proceeding triable by jury to assess the entire cost of one day's juror

Case 2022AP000361 Respondent Brief Filed 10-04-2022 Page 6 of 14

fees for a jury, including all mileage costs, against either the plaintiff or defendant or to divide the cost and assess the cost against both plaintiff and defendant, or additional parties plaintiff or defendant, if a jury demand has been made in any case and if a jury demand is later withdrawn within 2 business days prior to the time set by the court for the commencement of the trial. The party assessed shall be required to make payment to the clerk of circuit court within a prescribed period and the payment thereof shall be enforced by contempt proceedings

Wis. Stat. §814.51. Based on the plain and unambiguous language in Wis. Stat. §814.51, the Court may only sanction a party if the jury trial demand is withdrawn within 2 days of the commencement of the trial. In the present matter the undisputed facts are that the demand was withdrawn three business days prior to the commencement of the trial. Therefore, the Circuit Court did not have the authority, under Wis. Stat. §814.51, to sanction the Defendant.

II. The Circuit Court Had Authority to Sanction the Defendant Under Other Statutory Provisions

While the Circuit court did not have authority to sanction the Defendant under Wis. Stat. §814.51, the Circuit Court did have authority to sanction the Defendant under Wis. Stat §805.03. In the Defendant-Appellant's brief an argument is made that the Circuit Court did not have the authority to sanction the Defendant under Wis. Stat. §805.03 because the Circuit Court's order regarding resolution after final pretrial stated "failure by either attorney to follow the order may result in sanctions..." (*Br. Def App. Pg* 17& 25.). In making this argument, the Defendant-Appellant ignores the plain meaning of Wis. Stat. §805.03 which provides:

For failure of any claimant to prosecute or for failure of **any party to comply with the statutes governing procedure in civil actions or to obey any order of court**, the court in which the action is pending may make such orders in regard to the failure as are just, including but not limited to orders authorized under s. <u>804.12 (2)</u> (a). Any dismissal under this section operates as an adjudication on the merits unless the court in its order for dismissal otherwise specifies for good cause shown recited in the order. A dismissal on the merits may be

Case 2022AP000361 Respondent Brief Filed 10-04-2022 Page 7 of 14

set aside by the court on the grounds specified in and in accordance with s. <u>806.07</u>. A dismissal not on the merits may be set aside by the court for good cause shown and within a reasonable time.

Wis. Stat §805.03. Thus, Wis. Stat §805.03 plainly provides that a Court may sanction "for failureany party..... ...to "obey any order of court." *Id.* Undeniably, the Defendant is a party to an action where she is the listed Defendant. Therefore, the Court has the authority under Wis. Stat. §805.03 to sanction the Defendant for failure to an obey any order of the Court.

Furthermore, the Defendant's argument that the Court lacked authority under is Wis. Stat. §805.03 to sanction the Defendant is based on an incorrect reading or interpretation of the Court's order regarding resolution after final pretrial. The Defendant-Appellant argues that because the order indicated "Failure by either attorney to follow this order may result in motions being denied or sanctions being imposed..." that only actions of attorneys could be sanctioned. The Plaintiff-Respondent disagrees with this reading and asserts the Court's order is limiting as to whose actions may lead to sanction(attorneys) not as to who may be sanctioned. Who may be sanctioned is governed by the law (any party *See Wis. Stat.* §805.03) and not modified by the order in any way. In fact not only did the order not modify *Wis. Stat.* §805.03 in any way, it cited to it as authority for sanctions. Lastly, even if the scheduling order did not apply to the Defendant herself, Monroe County Circuit Court rules did. Paragraph 9 of Monroe County Circuit Court rule 12.045 provides:

If a resolution has been reached at the time of the final pretrial, the defendant shall enter his/her plea at the final pretrial. If a resolution has not been reached, each side shall be prepared to certify to the Court that they have reviewed their file, contacted their witnesses, completed negotiations and are prepared to proceed to trial as scheduled with a full understanding of this rule. If a negotiated plea agreement is reached after the final pretrial hearing, the court may still allow the negotiated plea to proceed if the defendant advises the court at least 2 weeks prior to

Case 2022AP000361 Respondent Brief Filed 10-04-2022 Page 8 of 14

trial and schedules the plea hearing so it is heard at least 5 business days prior to the start of trial. If the plea is on the last possible day, it shall be completed prior to noon that day. The plea can be completed on a final pretrial calendar. Except as provided above, negotiated pleas will not be accepted absent extraordinary circumstances. Extraordinary circumstances do not include lack of adequate preparation of the case prior to the final pretrial or failure to file motions that can be deiced prior to trial. The court must be notified if there will be a dismissal at least 2 weeks prior to trial.

Monroe County Circuit Court Rules Rule 12.045 (available at https://www.wisbar.org/Directories/CourtRules/Wisconsin%20Circuit%20Circuit%20Court%20Rules.pdf). The next paragraph clarifies that sanctions are potential response to violation of the rules:

...Failure by attorneys or pro se defendants to follow these rules may result in sanctions being imposed pursuant to Sections 802.10(7), 814.51, and 805.03, Stats., or the commencement of contempt proceeding which may result in fines, incarceration or other orders.

Id. Similar to the Court's scheduling order, the Monroe County Circuit Court Rules do not modify any of the statutes cited, but rather clarify who's conduct may lead to a sanction. Who may be sanctioned is governed by the specific statute. In both situations, Wis. Stat §805.03, makes clear who may be sanctioned and that is "any party."

III. The Court Had Authority to Sanction The Defendant and Properly Exercised Discretion in Sanctioning the Defendant

Not only did the Court have the authority to sanction the Defendant but the court also properly exercised its discretion in sanctioning the defendant. The court properly exercised its discretion, because the Court examined the relevant facts, applies the proper standard and demonstrated at rational process in reaching a conclusion that a reasonable court could reach, just as was indicated is required in

Case 2022AP000361 Respondent Brief Filed 10-04-2022 Page 9 of 14

the *Flottmeyer* v. Circuit Court for Monroe County, 2007 Wi App 36, ¶16, 300 Wis. 2d 447, 730 N.W.2d 421, case. The Court demonstrated its proper exercise of discretion by indicating the reasons beyond the sanction which demonstrated a rational process in reaching a conclusion. Furthermore the Defendant-Appellant's claims that the Court did not properly exercise its discretion have no factual basis to support the claims. There is no basis because negotiation is not conduct which is out of control of the Defendant-Appellant and the "new" offer was largely similar to previous offers.

a. Negotiation is Not Conduct Which is Out of the Control of a Defendant

Negotiation is conduct which is directly in control of the Defendant The first reason the Defendant-Appellant cites to support her claim that the Court erroneously exercised its discretion is that the Defendant-Appellant claims she had no control over negotiation and therefore sanctioning her for late negotiations is an erroneous exercise of discretion. The claim that a Defendant has no control over negotiation is patently incorrect, both in a general criminal case and in this specific case.

Looking generally at criminal cases in Wisconsin, a Defendant always has control over negotiation and a Defense attorney cannot renegotiate a plea without the knowledge and consent of a Defendant. See *State v. Woods* (173 Wis. 2d 129, 141, 496 N.W.2d 144, 148 (Wis. App 1992), *citing Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S. Ct 109, 23 L.Ed 2d 274 (1969). If a Defense attorney renegotiates without the knowledge and consent of the Defendant, any plea entered based on those negations is not knowingly and voluntarily entered. *See Id.* Therefore, a Defendant has full control over negotiations, if negotiations occur without her knowledge and consent, they will not withstand appellate review. *See Id.*

Case 2022AP000361 Respondent Brief Filed 10-04-2022 Page 10 of 14

Looking more specifically at this case, the procedural history of the case demonstrates that the Defendant-Appellant did have control over negotiations in this case. Interestingly the Defendant-Appellant's brief does not discuss the earlier procedural history of this case. More specifically the earlier procedural history which involved the Defendant-Appellant having a jury trial removed from the calendar because she intended on accepting a plea agreement and then later changing her mind. On April 1, 2021 counsel for the Defendant-Appellant sent a letter to the Court asking that the two day jury trial scheduled for April 15 and April 16, 2021 be taken off the calendar because the Defendant-Appellant had accepted a plea agreement. Appendix Plaintiff Pg. 3. The Circuit Court took the trial of the calendar and set a plea hearing on April 26, 2021. However, prior to the April 26th date, Defense counsel wrote to the Court on April 9, 2021 and indicated that the Defendant-Appellant now wanted a trial. Appendix Plaintiff Pg. 4 This procedural posture demonstrates that not only in a general case does a Defendant have control over negotiation but in this case specifically the Defendant-Appellant had control over the negotiation. Also of note is the fact that the Defendant-Appellant has made no offer of proof claiming that Defense counsel didn't relay offers or discus them with her. If the Defendant-Appellant had made such a claim, perhaps her claim in relation to not having control over negotiation would have more merit.

The record supports a finding that the Defendant-Appellant did have control over negotiation, therefore, a claim that the Circuit Court erroneously exercised its discretion because the Defendant-Appellant had no control over negation, is not supported by what actually happened in this case, as the Defendant-Appellant did have control over negotiation.

b. The "New Offer" was largely Similar to the Previous Offers

Case 2022AP000361 Respondent Brief Filed 10-04-2022 Page 11 of 14

A Court is not bound by a joint recommendation when sentencing a Defendant, rather a court, "is required to exercise discretion to fashion a sentence, within the range provided by the legislature, which reflects the circumstances of the case and the characteristics of that particular defendant." *State v. Borrell*, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 765, 482 N.W.2d 883, 888 (1992). Given the Court is not bound by a sentencing recommendation from the parties, the "new offer" was largely similar to previous offers because it provided for the same potential maximum penalties. The fact that the "new offer" provided for a joint recommendation that was not significantly different than previous joint recommendations, further supports the Court's finding that the "new offer" was largely similar to previous offers.

i. The "New" Offer Included Pleas to Identical Charges as the March 2021 Offer Thus Exposing the Defendant-Appellant to Identical Maximum Penalties

The Defendant-Appellant attempts to claim that the Court erroneously exercised its discretion because it found that the offer which the Defendant-Appellant ultimately accepted was largely similar to previous offers. The offer the Defendant-Appellant ultimately accepted was largely similar to the March 2021 offer. Most importantly in looking at the similarity of the offers is the counts the Defendant-Appellant would plead to. The offer for what to plead to was exactly the same in the March 2021 offer and the December 2021 offer. Thus the maximum penalties she was exposed to were identical. Given a sentencing Court is not required to follow any joint recommendation on sentencing from the parties, it is inconvertibly true that the most important aspect of any plea agreement is what the maximum penalties are for the crimes a Defendant is entering pleas to. In this specific case the March 2021 offer and the "new" offer were not only similar, in relation to maximum penalties, they were identical. The similarity in

Case 2022AP000361 Respondent Brief Filed 10-04-2022 Page 12 of 14

maximum penalties is not the only similarity between the "new" offer and previous offers.

ii. End Date of the Diversion Was Largely Similar

The March 2021 offer include a 30 month diversion agreement which would have ended in September of 2023 if immediately accepted. The December 2021 offer allowed for completion of the diversion by June of 2022. This is only a difference of 15 months. This similarity is also not the only similarity between the "new" offer and the previous offers.

iii. End Date of Probation Was Largely Similar

The March of 2021 offer included an offer for 2 years' probation, which would have ended in March of 2023 if the offer was accepted immediately. The December 2021 offered allowed for 12 months of probation would end in December of 2022. This is only a difference of three months. Therefore the term of probation offered was also largely similar.

The Court properly exercised its discretion in sanctioning the Defendant-Appellant because the Court examined the relevant facts, applied the proper standard and demonstrated at rational process in reaching a conclusion that a reasonable court could reach. Furthermore, the claims of the Defendant-Appellant that the Court did not properly exercise discretion do not have a factual basis. Given negotiation is something that a Defendant controls and given the "new" offer was largely similar to previous offers, because it called for the same maximum penalties and similar end dates of probation and diversion, the Defendant-Appellants claim of improper exercise of discretion must fail.

IV. Conclusion

Case 2022AP000361 Respondent Brief Filed 10-04-2022 Page 13 of 14

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